ORIGINAL

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

DEC 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARREN KEITH BELT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002350

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence found inside the car Appellant was driving at the time of his arrest where the officers' continued detention of Appellant constituted a seizure for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment and the officers lacked reasonable, articulable suspicion to extend the traffic stop of Appellant past the time required to issue a traffic citation for speeding?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 10, 2013, the Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant Darren Belt for two counts of armed robbery. R. 262 (Indictments).

On September 14 – 17, 2015, Belt was tried before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. Belt was represented by Michael Detreville, and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Alex Zeigler and Scott Maynor. R. 8, 84, 177, and 500. The jury found Belt guilty on both counts of armed robbery. R. 725.

On October 23, 2015, Belt appeared for a hearing on his motion for new trial, which was denied. R. 733 – 739. Judge Harrington then proceeded to sentencing, imposing concurrent sentences of eighteen years. R. 750.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

Belt was tried for the armed robberies of Glenn McElhenney and Shane Burnett, which occurred at **12:15 a.m.** on May 7, 2013. R. 34, l. 19 – 35, l. 21. Belt's co-defendants, Randi Parks and Ricky Hayes, were both apprehended within ten minutes of the robbery. R. 39, ll. 6-15; R. 319, l. 13 – 322, l. 21. **One hour and twenty-two minutes** after the robbery, former officer Alex Gillespie saw Belt driving approximately one-quarter mile from where the robbery occurred. Gillespie saw that Belt was a black male driving alone in the area and had a hunch that he may be the missing suspect. Gillespie determined that Belt was driving ten miles over the posted twenty-five mile per hour speed limit, and **initiated a traffic stop at 1:37 a.m.** R. 40, ll.6-10; R. 44, ll. 14-19; R. 48, ll. 10-13; R. 71, l. 3 – 73, l. 20. Belt was detained for **twenty-four minutes** before Parks gave police additional information regarding the third suspect, which was relayed to Gillespie and the other officer at the scene of the stop at **2:01 a.m.** R. 118, l. 3-16; R. 125, l. 20 – 127, l. 20; State's Ex. 1 (DVD of traffic stop, on file with this Court). As will be seen *infra*, nothing in the intervening twenty-four minutes raised the officers' suspicion beyond a mere hunch. Belt was subsequently arrested and charged with the instant offenses.

Defense counsel moved to suppress the items obtained from Belt's jeep, specifically a book bag that contained letters addressed to co-defendant Hayes, because the officers illegally elongated the traffic stop. R. 30 – 168; R. 182 – 214; R. 1 – 7 (Defense Motion to Suppress). The trial court denied the motion. R. 168, l. 25 – 169, l. 12; R. 214, l. 21 – 216, l. 9. Defense counsel renewed his objections to the evidence at all necessary times, including prior to the introduction of the evidence, at the close of the State's case, before the case was submitted to the jury, and in a motion for new trial. R. 278, l. 19 – 279, l. 4; R. 289, l. 17 – 290, l. 13; R. 340, l. 22 – 341, l. 5; R. 342, ll. 3-8; R.

343, l. 5 – 345, l. 9; R. 659, ll. 4-10; R. 724, ll. 13-18; R. 735- 739; R. 730 – 732 (Defense Motion for New Trial).

Robbery

On May 7, 2013, at approximately 12:15 a.m., McElhenney and Burnett were walking down the sidewalk, after an evening of drinking and listening to music at a local bar. R. 242, l. 21 – 243, l. 25. Former officer Alex Gillespie¹ was across the street conducting “business checks,” which involved verifying that the doors to the businesses were secure and leaving a note for the owner. Gillespie saw the two men, who were being loud, and “made a mental note” to go speak to them. R. 33, l. 20 – 35, l. 18. Meanwhile, three or four black men, one of whom had a gun, approached McElhenney and Burnett and demanded that the men empty their pockets. R. 60, ll. 20-23; R. 244, l. 6 – 245, l. 10; R. 366, ll. 16-22. When Gillespie turned around he saw that “the two white males were surrounded by three black males” and thought it “was kind of suspicious.” R. 35, ll. 17-24.

Gillespie was walking across the street toward the group when he saw one of the men raise his hands in the air. R. 35, ll. 3-8; R. 35, l. 25 – 36, l. 2. Gillespie unholstered his gun and yelled “hey,” causing the suspects to run. R. 36, ll. 3-5. Gillespie said he pursued them until he lost sight of one of the suspects and the other two ran in another direction. R. 36, ll. 3 – 37, l. 4. He issued a be-on-the-lookout (“BOLO”) for three black males dressed in all black. R. 99, ll. 14-25; R. 317, l. 5 – 318, l. 3; R. 338, ll. 9-12. Though not in the BOLO or his written report, Gillespie later claimed that one of the robbers wore a black baseball cap with white or silver lettering. R. 37, ll. 5-15; R. 62, l. 25 – 63, l. 6; R. 69, ll. 4-22.

¹ At the time of Belt’s trial, Gillespie was “no longer employed” by the police department due to an unrelated matter. R. 26, l. 5 – 30, l. 2; R. 33, ll. 3-5.

Gillespie returned to McElhenney and Burnett, one of whom said that the robbers were wearing dark black clothing and that one had braids in his hair. R. 39, ll. 1-5. McElhenney was given medical treatment for a pre-existing “watermelon size” hernia, which was aggravated during the robbery. R. 37, l. 23 – 38, l. 10; R. 245, l. 16 – 246, l. 3; R. 255, ll. 12 – 256, l. 24. Burnett was taken to the police station to be interviewed by officer Andrew Decamp. R. 135, ll. 1-21; R. 408, l. 20 – 413, l. 21.

Apprehension of Co-defendants

Other officers responded to the area and canvassed for suspects. Co-defendant Ricky Hayes approached officer David Ivey and said that he was the victim of a robbery. Officer Gary Myers went to assist Ivey, who suspected that Hayes was one of the robbery suspects and detained him. Ivey and Myers continued to search the area and saw a foot sticking out from under a dump truck. The foot belonged to co-defendant Randi Parks, who had McElhenney’s wallet in his pocket. Hayes and Parks were both taken to the police station while officers looked for a third suspect. R. 122, l. 24 – 123, l. 19; R. 183, l. 23 – 186, l. 5; R. 438, l. 11 – 442, l. 5. After an additional forty-five minutes to an hour, officers pulled back their search in hopes that the third suspect might “start moving.” R. 39, l. 6 – 40, l. 5; R. 91, ll. 9-22.

Traffic Stop

At **1:37 a.m.**, Gillespie initiated a traffic stop of Appellant Belt after he saw “a green jeep traveling at a fast speed driven by a black male.” R. 40, ll. 6-17; R. 44, ll. 17-19; R. 50, ll. 6-15; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). Gillespie had turned behind the car, paced it,² and determined that Belt was

² “Pacing” is a technique for measuring speed whereby the officer maintains a constant distance between the police car and the suspect’s car long enough to make a reasonably accurate estimate of its speed. *State v. Moore*, 404 S.C. 634, 637 n.1, 746 S.E.2d 352, 353 n.1 (Ct. App. 2013), *reversed by* 415 S.C. 245, 781 S.E.2d 897 (2016), *petition for cert filed* No. 15-9150 (U.S. Apr. 29, 2016).

traveling ten miles over the speed limit of twenty-five miles per hour. R. 40, ll. 11-17. Gillespie said that he thought the driver of the jeep was “[a] possible suspect” because “[h]e was a black male leaving the area in which three black males had just robbed two white males at gunpoint” and he was driving at a “high rate of speed.” R. 71, l. 3 – 72, l. 21. However, Gillespie admitted that **one hour and twenty-two minutes** had passed since the robbery such that it is possible that Belt had come into the area from a great distance in the interim period. R. 72, l. 22 – 74, l. 15.

Suppression Hearing

The State called four witnesses at the suppression hearing, including Gillespie, who intervened in the robbery and initiated the traffic stop of Belt; Sergeant Gregory Horton, who assisted with the traffic stop; Corporal Dan Eckert, who interrogated co-defendant Parks at the police station; and Corporal Gary Myers, who participated in the inventory search of Belt’s jeep. Gillespie’s recording equipment was not functioning properly, such that there was no audio recording of the statements made during the traffic stop or during the subsequent search of the jeep. R. 45, l. 24 – 46, l. 25; R. 75, l. 9 – 76, l. 12; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD).

Gillespie testified that the location of the stop was approximately one-quarter mile away from the robbery location. R. 48, ll. 10-13. He waited briefly to approach Belt’s vehicle because his supervisor, Horton, was en route. R. 40, ll. 19-25. According to Gillespie, **an ordinary traffic stop would be completed in five to ten minutes**. R. 66, ll. 4-6. A total of **forty-four minutes** passed between the time the traffic stop of Belt was initiated and when Belt was placed under arrest and handcuffed. R. 66, ll. 7-10.

When Gillespie began walking toward the jeep at **1:39 a.m.**, he said that he placed his hand on his gun because he suspected that Belt might have been involved with the robbery and the gun involved in the robbery had not been located. R. 55, l. 19 – 56, l. 10; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD).

Gillespie claimed that when he looked through the window into the back seat, he saw a black shirt and black hat with white writing. R. 41, ll. 6-19; R. 45, ll. 7-11. Gillespie later admitted that at the prior trial of co-defendant Hayes, he testified that he saw a black hoodie rather than a black shirt in the jeep. R. 301, l. 21 – 303, l. 3. Neither Horton, Eckert, nor Myers recalled being told about or seeing the items that Gillespie described. No such items were collected from or photographed in the jeep either. R. 50, ll. 9-12; R. 159, l. 11-20; R. 194, l. 15 – 196, l. 4. Thus, Gillespie's uncorroborated testimony was literally the only evidence that any dark clothing or a hat were in the jeep.

Once Gillespie made contact with Belt, he requested his license and registration, which showed that the owner of the jeep was William Belt, Belt's father. Gillespie said that **the computer check was completed "within approximately the first five minutes of the stop."** R. 56, l. 11 – 57, l. 7; R. 108, ll. 14-22; R. 92, l. 22 – 93, l. 6; R. 192, l. 15 – 193, l. 2; R. 206, ll. 14-19. Notably, Belt was not wearing dark clothing, but rather khaki pants and a blue tank top. R. 65, l. 13 – 66, l. 3; State's Ex. 1 (DVD). Gillespie and Horton began asking Belt questions about what he was doing in the area. Belt told them that he was looking for the house of a woman he was going to "meet." Though neither of the officers could recall the name of the neighborhood Belt mentioned, they both testified that they knew the area well and had not heard of it. R. 42, ll. 5-17; R. 92, l. 6-21; R. 151, l. 24 – 152, l. 17. Again, because of the lack of functioning audio recording equipment, the only evidence of what was said during the stop came from the officers' testimony.³ R. 308, ll. 7-25.

³ Officer Decamp conducted the post-arrest interrogation of Belt. He testified that Belt told him that he had come to Mt. Pleasant from out of town and "was looking for a neighborhood called Shadow Creek on Chuck Dawley Boulevard near the Kangaroo gas station" where he was supposed "to meet up or see a woman." R. 405, l. 5 – 406, l. 10; R. 414, l. 5 – 415, l. 16. Belt said he was stopped by police after he had been unsuccessful in locating the house and was on his way back out of town. R. 406, ll. 17-21. Decamp confirmed that there is a Kangaroo gas station on Chuck Dawley Boulevard, by which the Hickory Shadows neighborhood is located. The Exxon gas station where Belt was stopped and arrested is approximately two miles from that Kangaroo gas station. R. 415, l. 10 – 416, l. 22.

Gillespie said that once he approached the vehicle and saw a single black male with braids and the black shirt and hat in the back seat, the stop was no longer “just a speeding stop” and he believed that Belt “was linked to the armed robbery.” R. 47, l. 18 – 48, l. 7; R. 51, l. 12 – 52, l. 17. Horton, who never claimed to see or have been made aware of any clothing in the backseat,⁴ said that he “believed that we probably had the third suspect” after they spoke with Belt. R. 93, ll. 7-10; R. 113, ll. 13-22.

Sergeant Horton walked out of the view of the police car’s video camera at **1:47 a.m.**, at which time he called the police station to speak with Corporal Eckert and find out if either co-defendant was being cooperative. R. 93, ll. 9-25; R. 101, l. 9 – 102, l. 6; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). Eckert testified that he began advising co-defendant Randi Parks of his Miranda rights at 1:45 a.m. Just after Parks had agreed to waive his Miranda rights, someone delivered a message to Eckert to call Horton. Eckert excused himself and called Horton from a landline telephone. R. 123, l. 25 – 125, l. 9; R. 137, l. 12 – 138, l. 22; R. 161, ll. 3-7. At **1:51 a.m.**, Horton answered his cell phone, which he remained on until 1:54 a.m. R. 94, ll. 1-4; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). Eckert testified that they merely discussed whether Parks was being cooperative and that no details regarding the vehicle or driver were relayed from Horton to Eckert. R. 125, ll. 6-9; R. 141, ll. 5-16. Horton, on the other hand, said that he told Eckert “the description of the person we were out with.” R. 94, ll. 5-10.

Eckert then returned to Parks and told him that they had a person who they thought was the third suspect and that he should “tell his story and to be honest” by describing the third robber. R. 125, ll. 10-19. Parks told him that the missing robber went by “L” and was from North Charleston,

⁴ Horton testified during the suppression hearing that a black hat, black shirt, and latex gloves were listed on the tow sheet that documented items found in Belt’s jeep. R. 116, ll. 15-22; R. 118, ll. 17-23. However, the tow sheet was later shown to Officer Myers, who testified that no such items were listed on it. R. 194, l. 9 – 195, l. 13.

though they rode down from Columbia earlier in the day. Parks said that “L” had cornrows and an eye deformity. At **2:01 a.m., twenty-four minutes after the traffic stop began**, Horton answered his cell phone, at which time Eckert relayed to him the initial description of the third suspect as a black male with cornrows and an eye injury. Eckert then went back to speak with Parks, who further indicated that “L” drove a blue or green truck, though he changed that to say it was a truck or jeep. Parks also said that there was a book bag in the rear seat. R. 118, l. 3-16; R. 125, l. 20 – 127, l. 20; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD).

The officers testified that Belt was unwilling to voluntarily come to the police station, so they decided that Eckert would come to the location of the traffic stop. At **2:10 a.m.**, Eckert arrived at the location of the traffic stop and spoke with Belt. Eckert said Belt was looking for a neighborhood with “Shadows” in the name, which was unfamiliar to Eckert. However, Eckert admitted that there is a Hickory Shadows subdivision in Mt. Pleasant. R. 96, ll. 16-23; R. 127, l. 21 – 130, l. 5; R. 151, l. 21 – 152, l. 17; R. 161, ll. 11-21; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). After Eckert spoke with Belt, Belt was placed under arrest for armed robbery and handcuffed at **2:21 a.m.** R. 51, ll. 4-11; R. 96, ll. 23-25; R. 130, ll. 8 – 131, l. 13; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). Belt, who is 5’2”, was noticeably shorter than the officers. State’s Ex. 1 (DVD); R. 400, l. 21 – 401, l. 6. Multiple officers, including Gillespie and Myers,⁵ conducted a search of the jeep from 2:22 a.m. until 2:49 a.m. No black clothing, hat, or gloves, were collected, nor were they visible on the dash-cam video. The officers did seize a zipped book bag from the backseat of the jeep, which contained letters addressed to co-defendant Hayes. R. 42, l. 22 – 43, l. 2; R. 63, l. 13 – 64, l. 20; R. 186, l. 12 – 188, l. 5; R. 193, l. 3 – 196, l. 22; State’s Ex. 1 (DVD). Belt was not given the traffic citation for

⁵ While Gillespie said that he did not participate in the inventory search of the jeep, Myers said that he and Gillespie conducted the search together. Compare R. 42, l. 22 – 43, l. 2, with R. 194, ll. 1-8.

speeding until after he was arrested and taken to the Charleston County Detention Center. R. 57, l. 8 – 58, l. 21.

Following the testimony, defense counsel argued the suppression motion. R. 198, l. 1 – 207, l. 8; R. 1 – 7 (Defense Motion to Suppress). He noted that the extension of traffic stop beyond the reasonable amount of time needed to complete the stop must be supported by reasonable suspicion to continue detaining the defendant. He argued that the officers here were dilatory in performing the functions of the traffic stop in an effort to extend it so that further investigation could be conducted. R. 199, l. 18 – 201, l. 13. Defense counsel argued that the assertion that a dark shirt and hat were seen in Belt's back seat was not credible such that the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to believe Belt was involved in the armed robbery and necessitating suppression of the bag and its contents, which were taken from the jeep. R. 201, l. 14 – 204, l. 23; see also R. 198, ll. 2 – 199, l. 17.

The solicitor argued that Gillespie's suspicions were aroused when he saw the black shirt and hat in the back seat of Belt's jeep and saw Belt's hairstyle, allegedly consistent with what he had seen and the victim's statement that one of the robbers had braids. R. 208, l. 1 – 209, l. 3. He also cited that Belt was a black male traveling alone and that the officers were unfamiliar with the neighborhood where Belt said he was going. R. 209, ll. 3-16; R. 210, ll. 7-10. The solicitor further argued that Horton called Eckert "within a reasonable time period" and obtained details regarding the third robber given by one of the co-defendants. The solicitor noted that the description included an eye injury, which both officers noticed, and the officers' dissatisfaction with Belt's explanation of what he was doing in Mt. Pleasant. R. 209, l. 17 – 210, l. 10. Once Eckert arrived, he "noticed numerous factors . . . that were consistent with what he had been told by Mr. Parks" R. 210, ll. 10-13.

In response to the trial court's inquiry, defense counsel conceded that the initial traffic stop for speeding was valid such that the sole question for the court was whether there was reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop and conduct "a second seizure of the vehicle." R. 214, ll. 1-20.

The trial judge issued her ruling denying the motion to suppress and finding:

Based upon the ongoing investigation, the fact that they were looking for, they had two individuals in custody out of the three potential suspects. One of the suspects matching the description of the individual that was driving the car I do find that there was facts sufficient to support reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop. Because of that I find that everything that was taken into custody and seized was lawfully seized.

R. 214, l. 21 – 215, l. 10.

Additional Evidence at Trial

Belt's Statement and Jail Call

In addition to testimony from the officers at trial, the State introduced testimony regarding Belt's post-arrest statement to detective Decamp, portions of Belt's jailhouse phone call, the inconsistent testimony of the victims, and the incredible testimony of Randi Parks. Belt's statement to Decamp was consistent with what he told the officers during the traffic stop. Belt said that he had come to Mt. Pleasant from out of town and "was looking for a neighborhood called Shadow Creek on Chuck Dawley Boulevard near the Kangaroo gas station" where he was supposed "to meet up or see a woman." R. 405, l. 5 – 406, l. 10; R. 414, l. 5 – 415, l. 16. Belt said he was stopped by police after he had been unsuccessful in locating the house and was on his way back out of town. R. 406, ll. 17-21. Decamp confirmed that there is a Kangaroo gas station on Chuck Dawley Boulevard, by which the Hickory Shadows neighborhood is located. The Exxon gas station where Belt was stopped and arrested is approximately two miles from that Kangaroo gas station. R. 415, l. 10 – 416, l. 22. The jailhouse call corroborated nothing more than Parks' assertion that Belt went by the nickname Lizard and that Belt had been in Columbia prior to his arrest. Belt made no

admissions to involvement in the robbery; rather, he told his friend that he was in the “wrong place” at the “wrong time.” R. 672, l. 24 – 673, l. 15; R. 699, ll. 11-19.

Inconsistent Testimony of McElhenney and Burnett

Glenn McElhenney and Shane Burnett’s testimony was inconsistent both with each other and with their own prior statements. Their credibility regarding the description of the robbers was further damaged by their admission that they saw news reports shortly after the robbery, which included the “mug shots”⁶ of the three suspects who were arrested. R. 249, ll. 8-11; R. 391, ll. 13-25; R. 689, l. 5 – 697, l. 23. McElhenney said that the area where the incident took place was not well lit, while Burnett claimed it was “fairly well lit.” Compare R. 253, ll. 5-14, with R. 392, l. 24 – 393, l. 1. McElhenney said that there were three robbers, one in front of them and two behind them, but Burnett said that there may have been four robbers, two in front of them and at least one behind them. Compare R. 244, ll. 15-18; R. 253, l. 14 – 254, l. 18, with R. 365, ll. 2-9; R. 366, ll. 16-22. However, they both agreed that they focused on the gun, they got their own items out of their pockets, and no knife was used in the incident. R. 244, ll. 21-22; R. 246, ll. 13-14; R. 259, ll. 14-20; R. 260, l. 11 – 261, l. 2; R. 263, ll. 11-25; R. 264, ll. 13-25; R. 367, ll. 17-18; R. 370, l. 25 – 371, l. 1; R. 380, ll. 15-23.

In the statement he gave four days after the incident, McElhenney said that all of the robbers were black, one had dreads, and two wore hoodies. However, he testified at trial that his statement that one had dreads may have been tainted by the news coverage and that one of the hoodies could have been a “ball cap or something.” R. 248, l. 25 – 249, l. 15; R. 257, l. 3 – 259, l. 1. Notably, McElhenney had never mentioned a ball cap until Belt’s trial. R. 259, ll. 2-8. McElhenney testified

⁶ A “mug shot” is a “typical police photographs, taken when a person has been arrested, depicting the appellant in two classic poses; a standing close-up facial view and a standing close-up side view.” State v. Tate, 288 S.C. 104, 105, 341 S.E2d 380, 381 (1986).

that he was not involved in any identification procedures and that he would not have been able to identify any of the robbers regardless. R. 262, l. 23 – 263, l. 10.

On the night of the incident, Burnett gave a written statement⁷ at the police station, in which he described four assailants, all of whom were black males, 18-25 years old, wearing black clothing, with shoulder length hair and no facial hair. R. 389, l. 7 – 390, l. 3; R. 412, ll. 7-23. Burnett acknowledged that his statement was supposed to be as detailed as possible. R. 388, ll. 7-19. However, he said that he was tired and “didn’t think it was really important” because he overheard a few officers say that they “had three guys in custody.” R. 375, l. 18 – 376, l. 12; R. 388, l. 20 – 389, l. 6; R. 391, ll. 9-12. Detective Decamp, who interviewed Burnett, described Burnett as “very forthcoming with details” and did not appear exhausted. Decamp said that Burnett told him that he could only provide common characteristics and could not differentiate between the suspects any further. R. 408, l. 20 – 413, l. 21.

Nonetheless, Burnett provided surprising detail regarding the suspects’ appearance at trial. Burnett testified that the gunman was attractive, young looking, and not very big, wearing dark clothing – possibly a hoodie or dreadlocks. R. 367, l. 14 – 368, l. 6; R. 373, ll. 19 – 374, l. 4; R. 394, l. 6 – 395, l. 17. He further claimed to see a second man in front of them, who had a scar on his eye, dark clothing, and was “not as little boyish looking as the person holding the gun.” R. 368, l. 7 – 369, l. 18. Burnett, who is 5’9” tall, admitted that he testified at Hayes’ trial that the second person in front of them, supposedly Belt, was “maybe my height.” Belt is 5’2,” a distinctively short stature for a man. R. 382, l. 6 – 384, l. 22; R. 398, l. 24 – 399, l. 8; R. 400, l. 3 – 401, l. 6; R. 447, ll. 8-9; R. 473, ll. 10-12.

⁷ Burnett’s written statement was not known to the officers prior to or during the traffic stop of Belt such that it could not have factored into the officers’ reasonable articulable suspicion to detain Belt. R. 135, ll. 1-21.

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