STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002350

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

DARREN KEITH BELT, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN M. WILSON  
Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100073

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

100 Meeting Street  
Charleston, South Carolina 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court did not err in declining to suppress evidence obtained from Appellant's vehicle because the officers had reasonable suspicion to detain him and therefore the seizure did not violate his Fourth Amendment rights.**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution secures the right of the people to be secure against unreasonable search and seizure. U.S. Const. amend. IV. "As the text makes clear, the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." *State v. Cardwell*, 414 S.C. 416, 425, 778 S.E.2d 483, 488 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2482 (2014)). "Temporary detention of an individual in the course of a routine traffic stop constitutes a Fourth Amendment seizure, but where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, such a seizure is reasonable per se." *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). However, detention for questioning outside of issuance of the citation "is beyond the scope of the stop and therefore illegal unless the officer has reasonable suspicion of a serious crime." *Id.*

"Reasonable suspicion is something more than an 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion' or hunch." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). Rather, considering "the totality of the circumstances, reasonable suspicion requires there be an objective, specific basis for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity." *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 169, 182, 754 S.E.2d 862, 868 (2014). "Reasonable suspicion does not entail a set of legal rules, but entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act." *State v. Morris*, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted). The reasonable suspicion standard "is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence[.]" *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S.

119, 123 (2000). “If, during the stop of the vehicle, the officer’s suspicions are confirmed or further aroused—even if for a different reason than he initiated the stop—the stop may be prolonged, and the scope of the detention enlarged as circumstances require.” *Robinson*, 407 S.C. at 182, 754 S.E.2d at 869.

“On appeal from a motion to suppress on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse only if there is clear error.” *Id.* at 180–81, 754 S.E.2d at 868. “The ‘clear error’ standard means that an appellate court will not reverse a trial court’s finding of fact simply because it would have decided the case differently.” *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). Instead, the Court will “affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” *State v. Brockman*, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000).

At the outset, Appellant’s argument on appeal is unpreserved. Throughout the proceedings, Appellant’s Fourth Amendment challenge was premised on a successful Sixth Amendment challenge to the evidence of the black clothing and hat observed by Officer Gillespie. His counsel repeatedly framed the argument in this manner, asserting: “If [the black clothing] is suppressed, as prayed for supra, the entire detention of the Defendant beyond [the length required to effectuate the traffic stop] must be found unreasonable as a matter of law, as no other articulable basis for ‘reasonable suspicion exists,’” (Appellant’s Mot. to Suppress.5); “[I]f there is [sic] no black clothes and there is no black hat there is no reasonable suspicion,” (Tr.226); and “Without that black shirt and without that black hat there simply is not reasonable suspicion to have held [Appellant] for [an extended period of time.]” (R.204). Furthermore, at the post-trial hearing, he only argued there was no probable cause for the extended detention. (R. 737.) By limiting the challenge to whether officers had reasonable suspicion to detain him *if*

the court declined to consider the testimony about the clothing, Appellant all but directly conceded that if the court *did* consider the clothing, his Fourth Amendment challenge should fail. Appellant now argues that *considering* the clothing and hat in the backseat in addition to the other evidence presented, the officers nevertheless lacked reasonable suspicion to detain him. A party is precluded from asserting an argument on appeal that was conceded below. *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) (“An issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal.”). Moreover, this is not the argument presented to the trial court. Accordingly, the issue is unpreserved. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.”). However, even if the Court chooses to address the arguments, Appellant’s challenge fails on the merits.

Appellant argues the prolonged seizure and subsequent search were unconstitutional because the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop past the issuance of a citation for his speeding violation.<sup>2</sup> However, the substance of Appellant’s argument disputes the *weight* of the evidence; on appeal, the Court need only consider whether there is any evidence supporting the ruling. Here, there is evidence supporting the trial court’s finding. Officer Gillespie testified Appellant was coming from the search area of the crime, he matched the physical description of the third suspect, and his car contained items of clothing similar to those described the victims had offered. Furthermore, he was speeding and traveling at a very late hour. *See United States v. Lender*, 985 F.2d 151, 154 (4th Cir. 1993) (recognizing “[t]he lateness of the hour” is a “fact that may raise the level of suspicion”). Sergeant Horton further observed Appellant acted evasive and confused as to where he was going, giving the name of a

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant has consistently acknowledged Officer Gillespie had probable cause to initiate the traffic stop based on his speeding violation. (R.214, Appellant’s Br.17, 21.)

neighborhood that did not exist. Relying on the officers' experience and training in light of the information available to them, there is evidence supporting the trial court's conclusion that the officers had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop long enough to investigate whether probable cause existed to arrest Appellant.

Nevertheless, Appellant invites the Court to improperly reweigh the evidence and consider alternative interpretations of the testimony. These considerations are outside the province of appellate review. *See State v. Provet*, 405 S.C. 101, 112, 747 S.E.2d 453, 459 (2013) (“Petitioner points out several factors that he contends were indicative of innocent travel: the address petitioner gave for his girlfriend was confirmed as a valid address; petitioner had no arrest record; and no negative information about the vehicle or petitioner was reported by the dispatcher. While we agree these facts could be found to weigh against Officer’s reasonable suspicion, that determination was for the trial court, and we must affirm when any evidence in the record supports its finding.”). Although multiple inferences could arise from Appellant’s presence in the area, his comments to police, the length of time between his detention and the commission of the crime, and the credibility of the officers’ testimony, the trial court is afforded discretion in considering that evidence. It may adjudge the weight and credibility of the evidence and base its decision on its own conclusions.

Accordingly, Appellant’s attempts to discredit the finding of reasonable suspicion based on his analysis of *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 169, 754 S.E.2d 862 (2014), are unpersuasive. In that case, the Supreme Court held the officer had reasonable suspicion to extend a detention of four men parked in a dark church parking lot in an area not readily accessible to the public based on his knowledge that “(1) the police were looking for four African–American men in their twenties who robbed a bar within twenty minutes of the officer’s encounter with the men; (2) the

bar was in close proximity to the church parking lot; (3) there were four young men in the vehicle who matched the approximate description of the BOLO—the correct number of men, the correct race, the correct age, and the correct approximate clothing color—and (4) there were four potential suspects and only one of him.” *Id.* at 183, 754 S.E.2d at 869. Additionally, when the backup officers approached the vehicle, “the four men’s sudden ‘nervous[ness] and silen[ce]’ and their ‘look[ing] straight forward’ further aroused the officers’ suspicions.” *Id.* at 184, 754 S.E.2d at 870.

Again, Appellant improperly urges the Court to draw favorable inferences as opposed to looking at whether the evidence supports the trial court’s finding. Initially, the facts are not as distinct as Appellant suggests. Here, as in *Robinson*, the officers observed Appellant in the vicinity of the crime, he matched the physical description of the suspect, and he behaved suspiciously, giving evasive answers to the officers’ inquiries. There are of course factual distinctions as to how the vehicle came to be detained. Appellant may not have been parked in a dark church parking lot, but he was speeding away from the vicinity at 1:39 a.m. However, Fourth Amendment jurisprudence is crafted to allow the trial court to tailor its considerations to the facts of the specific case. *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996) (noting that in determining whether a violation of the Fourth Amendment has occurred, the Supreme Court has “consistently eschewed bright-line rules, instead emphasizing the fact-specific nature of the reasonableness inquiry” with the recognition of “the endless variations in the facts and circumstances implicating the Fourth Amendment” (internal quotations omitted)). As noted above, the conclusions are based on the totality of the circumstances and whether under those circumstances an objective, specific basis for reasonable suspicion exists.

Finally, although Appellant limits his challenge to the length of the detention as unreasonable *absent* reasonable suspicion, the record demonstrates the officers were not dilatory in their investigation and the length of the seizure leading to Appellant's arrest was reasonable under the circumstances. Once the officers had reasonable suspicion to detain Appellant, which was immediately upon talking to him and viewing the contents of the vehicle, Sergeant Horton called Corporal Eckert to obtain more information about the suspect at large to discern whether it matched Appellant. The length was furthered by Corporal Eckert's decision to come to where Appellant was stopped and talk to Appellant in person prior to the arrest.

Furthermore, any error in the admission was harmless. The letters were by no means the linchpin of the case. The officers testified he was speeding away from the vicinity of the crime in the middle of the night and he matched the description given by the victims. Additionally, although Parks' credibility was heavily attacked, the testimony presented is that without suggestion on the part of the officers, he described his third confederate as a young black man with cornrows and an eye deformity who drove a blue or green truck that had a backpack in the rear seat. He would require clairvoyance to so aptly describe Appellant unless he had been with him that night. Accordingly, based on the other evidence submitted at trial, the letters did not contribute to the verdict and therefore their admission was harmless. *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) ("The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.